October 28, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 73364-8-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRIAN SCOTT,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

TRAVIS STEARNS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

Insufficient evidence exists to establish possession with intent to deliver when the State is only able to demonstrate that an accused person may have delivered controlled substances other than those he was alleged to have possessed. Mr. Scott's conviction should be overturned because the State failed to establish that Mr. Scott had the intent to deliver.

At trial, the State presented inconsistent testimony with regard to whether Mr. Scott was in fact the person who an officer observed making exchanges. While this officer testified he never lost sight of Mr. Scott until he was arrested, other officers testified he was first seen coming out of a building, making it impossible for the observing officer to have witnessed what he testified to. The officer's ability to recall was impacted by the significant number of arrests he had made and was apparent in his lack of recall during the trial.

In analyzing whether a rational fact finder could have found sufficient evidence of an intent to deliver, this Court must reconcile the State's inconsistent testimony. Because there was no evidence of an intent deliver other than through the observing officer and his testimony conflicts with the testimony of the other officers, this Court

should find the State failed to present sufficient evidence of intent to deliver.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. There was insufficient evidence of intent to deliver the controlled substances Mr. Scott was alleged to have possessed.
- 2. The court abused its discretion in failing to grant Mr. Scott's motion to a new trial to right a substantial injustice.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

- 1. An essential element of the crime of possession of a controlled substance with the intent to deliver is that the accused intend to deliver the drugs they are alleged to possess. It is insufficient to show the accused intended to deliver or did in fact deliver other controlled substances. In the absence of evidence of an intent to deliver the controlled substances Mr. Scott was alleged to have possessed, did the court err in finding sufficient evidence of an intent to deliver?
- 2. The court shall grant a new trial when it affirmatively appears that a substantial right of the defendant was materially affected in that substantial justice has not been done. Where the State provides inconsistent testimony regarding the critical issue of identity must the court grant a new trial to correct the substantial injustice?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Brian Scott was convicted on February 26, 2015 of possession of a controlled substance with the intent to deliver. 2/26/15 RP 100. ¹ He was sentenced on April 10, 2015 to sixty months. 4/10 RP15.

Three officers who were part of a drug observation unit testified at his trial. Det. Collier testified he was within "an arm's length" of a person he later came to believe to be Mr. Scott when he claimed he saw that person hand "small white rocks" to two other people. 2/26/15 RP 18, 21. He also claimed he saw a "transfer of money." *Id.* at 22. The detective testified that "I never [took] my eyes off of him." *Id.* at 20. Finally, he testified he saw Mr. Scott put a "baggie on the rim of a metal container" immediately before he was arrested. *Id.* at 23. A bag containing several small rocks of cocaine was recovered from the garbage can. 2/24/15 RP 99.

Det. Collier also testified with regard to his ability to recall. 2/26/15 RP 47 ("Sometimes it's just hard to keep track of one arrest from another"). While recalled observing two exchanges being made prior to calling in the arrest team, he admitted he had not been able to

¹ When referring to the record, counsel will refer to each volume by their date and then the page number within that volume. E.g., 2/26/15 RP 100. References to the clerk's papers will be by the designated page number. E.g., CP 10.

recall the details of where he or Mr. Scott were standing while he made these observations when he was interviewed by defense counsel ten days prior to trial. 2/26/15 RP 44. He also had trouble remembering many of the details of the day, from whom he was working with to whether he observed other transactions take place. *Id.* 40-45.

Det. Collier testified regarding the description he provided to the arrest team. He said he notified them that the person he observed making exchanges had the following characteristics: "Light-skinned black male. Short curly hair. Dark jack with the hood down. Blue jeans and light sneakers." 2/26/15 RP 17. While Det. Collier testified he had seen the Seahawks tattoo on the neck of the person who conducted the transactions, he admitted he did not relay this information to the arresting team. *Id.* at 25. There was no dispute Mr. Scott had this distinguishing tattoo on his neck. *Id.* at 13.

Officer Berry arrested Mr. Scott. He was not called to the scene until after Det. Collier claimed to see the transaction occur. 2/24/15 RP 40. Unlike the testimony of Det. Collier, Officer Berry testified he first saw Mr. Scott "coming out of Déjà Vu, which is in the 1500 block of First Avenue." *Id.* at 46. He testified that shortly before Mr. Scott was arrested, Mr. Scott "put something in between the bucket carrier,"

describing a garbage can Det. Collier later testified about. *Id.* at 47. Det. Sharp was also part of the arresting team. *Id.* at 89. He testified he was told to go to a certain location, but did not remember the exact address. *Id.* at 90.

Unlike the description of Mr. Scott or whether Mr. Scott was seen leaving Déjà Vu, there were no inconsistencies between the officers with regard to where Mr. Scott was arrested or where the controlled substances were found. Each officer agreed that they saw Mr. Scott dispose of a bag into a garbage can immediately prior to his arrest. *Id.* at 47, 92; 2/26/15 RP 23. A small bag of cocaine rocks were recovered from the garbage can. 2/24/15 RP 99.

Mr. Scott's attorney focused much of his closing argument on the credibility of Det. Collier. 2/26/15 RP 84, 87-88. Defense counsel's final remarks regarding the evidence focused on whether the State had proven intent to deliver. Counsel argued:

Finally, is there an intent to deliver. They have to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that there was an intent to deliver. Items that you would typically think you would find on a drug dealer were not located.

There was no multiple bindles of drugs. It was just one tiny bindle. The amount of cash -- I don't know if seventy-eight dollars is a lot of money or a little bit of money, but it's not thousands of dollars that you would expect.

Id. at 91.

Mr. Scott moved post-verdict for an arrest of judgment for insufficient evidence, a motion to dismiss under CrR 8.3(b) and for a new trial under CrR 7.5 (a)(8). CP 31-40. The Court denied Mr. Scott's motions. 4/10/15 RP 14.

E. ARGUMENT

The State failed to present sufficient evidence Mr. Scott intended to deliver the controlled substances the State alleged he possessed.

1. Intent to deliver the controlled substance an accused is alleged to have possessed is an essential element of possession of a controlled substance with the intent to deliver.

The Due Process Clause protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 105, 217 P.3d 756 (2009) (*citing* U.S. Const. amend. 14; Const. art. I, § 22; *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 311, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979)). When viewing evidence in the light most favorable to the State, evidence is only sufficient where a rational trier of fact could find the essential elements of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Longshore*, 141 Wn.2d 192, 414, 4

P.3d 115 (2000). There must be substantial evidence to support the court's findings of fact in order for them to be sufficient. *State v*.

Mewes, 84 Wn. App. 620, 622, 929 P.2d 505 (1997) (citing Rae v. Konopaski, 2 Wn. App. 92, 95, 467 P.2d 375 (1970)).

A motion for a new trial may be granted when it affirmatively appears that a substantial right of the defendant was materially affected in that a substantial justice has not been done. CrR 7.5 (a)(8). In a criminal proceeding, a new trial is necessary when the "defendant has been so prejudiced that nothing short of a new trial can [e]nsure that the defendant will be treated fairly." *State v. Chanthabouly*, 164 Wn. App. 104, 140, 262 P.3d 144 (2011), *review denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1018, 272 P.3d 247 (2012) ((*quoting State v. Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d 471, 533, 14 P.3d 713 (2000) (*quoting State v. Lewis*, 130 Wn.2d 700, 707, 927 P.2d 235 (1996))). The basic question with respect to whether a substantial justice has not be done is whether the losing party received a fair trial. *Baxter v. Greyhound Corp.*, 65 Wn.2d 421, 440, 397 P.2d 857 (1964).

Bare possession of a controlled substance is not sufficient to support a conviction for possession with intent to deliver. "Washington case law forbids the inference of an intent to deliver based on 'bare possession of a controlled substance, absent other facts and

circumstances." *State v. Brown*, 68 Wn. App. 480, 483, 843 P.2d 1098 (1993) (*relying on State v. Johnson*, 61 Wn. App. 539, 811 P.2d 687 (1991) (conviction for possession of cocaine with intent to deliver reversed and remanded for resentencing on lesser charge of possession when evidence showed at most constructive possession of seven bindles of cocaine). Possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver requires proof of both drug possession and some additional factor supporting an inference of intent to deliver it. *State v. Zunker*, 112 Wn. App. 130, 135–36, 48 P.3d 344 (2002) (*citing State v. Campos*, 100 Wn. App. 218, 222, 998 P.2d 893 (2000)).

While a large quantity of drugs is not essential, some additional factor suggestive of sale is required for corroboration. *State v. Hagler*, 74 Wn. App. 232, 236, 872 P.2d 85 (1994); *State v. Brown*, 68 Wn. App. at 485). Examples of additional factors that have been held sufficient to support an inference of intent to deliver include large amounts of cash, scales, cell phones, address lists, and the like, which have been acknowledged as delivery paraphernalia. *See Campos*, 100 Wn. App. at 223–24, 998 P.2d 893 (*citing State v. Brown*, 68 Wn. App. at 485).

The plain meaning of RCW 69.50.401(a)² is that possession and intent to deliver refer to the same quantity of controlled substance. *State v. Robbins*, 68 Wn. App. 873, 876, 846 P.2d 585 (1993). It is not sufficient to show the accused intended to deliver drugs other than those he was alleged to have possessed. *Id.* In *Robbins*, the court found insufficient evidence of Robbins' intent to deliver the controlled substance he was found to have possessed because the quantity he possessed was not sufficient for a sale. The court found the evidence to be insufficient despite the additional evidence of "sales ledgers, cutting agents and paraphernalia tending to show that Robbins was a dealer in cocaine." *Id.* at 875.

There must be sufficient evidence of an intent to deliver the controlled substance a person is alleged to have possessed and not merely that a person may have delivered other controlled substances. *Id.* at 876. The intent must be specific to the charged substances. *Id.*

2. The State failed to establish an intent to deliver.

The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr.

Scott intended to deliver the controlled substances alleged to have been

 $^{^2}$ RCW 69.50.401(a) states "it is unlawful for any person to ... possess with intent to ... deliver, a controlled substance."

in his possession. Mr. Scott was not arrested with any of the hallmarks which would indicate he had intended to deliver the controlled substances he was accused of possessing. He was arrested "coming out of the Déjà Vu, which is in the 1500 block of First Avenue on the east side." 2/24/15 RP 46. He had a twenty dollar bill in his pocket and an additional fifty eight dollars in his wallet. 2/24/15 RP 76. The cocaine found by the State was only a "baggie" which would fit into his pocket. *Id.* at 62. There were also no scales that would help weigh drugs. 2/24/15 RP 70.

Mr. Scott was arrested with twenty dollars in his pocket and other money in his wallet. Det. Collier testified he did not recall whether Mr. Scott put money in his wallet. 2/26/15 RP 53. He also testified the small rocks he believed Mr. Scott sold were likely to be worth ten dollars each. *Id.* at 23. Det. Collier did not testify the transactions involved anyone making change but were rather exchanges that took less than five seconds. *Id.* at 18. This is important because the money seized from Mr. Scott was not consistent with the testimony given by Det. Collier. Had the transactions occurred as he testified to, Mr. Scott would have possessed two ten dollar bills, rather than a twenty. Because these transactions took place so quickly, there is no

rational view of the evidence which would suggest change was given on the street. This inconsistency between the physical evidence and Det. Collier's testimony demonstrates why Mr. Scott was not the person Det. Collier observed making exchanges on the street.

There was also conflict in the testimony of the State's witnesses. Det. Collier testified he never lost sight of Mr. Scott before the arrest team made contact with him. 2/26/15 RP 20. Officer Bailey testified to the contrary, stating he first observed Mr. Scott coming out from Déjà Vu. 2/24/15 RP 46. When asked what significance Déjà Vu had to this case, Det. Collier stated clearly, "None for me." 2/26/15 RP 57.

Importantly, Det. Collier never described the Seattle Seahawks tattoo which features prominently on Mr. Scott's neck. 2/26/15 RP 25. Instead, what stuck out in Det. Collier's mind was Mr. Scott's "jacket, his curly hair, his jeans and his sneakers." 2/26/15 RP 25. He did not note in his report this unusual characteristic or relay it to the arresting team. *Id.* at 62-63. He never told the arresting team about this tattoo. *Id.* at 25.

While the physical characteristics of Mr. Scott may be reconciled by a lack of ability to recall, it is far more difficult to reconcile the inconsistent testimony with regard to whether Mr. Scott

was seen coming out of Déjà Vu. To believe Mr. Scott was the same person Det. Collier testified had delivered other controlled substances prior to his arrest, the jury would have had to reject that he was observed coming out of Déjà Vu by the arresting team. It is not possible for Det. Collier to have never lost sight of Mr. Scott and yet for the arresting team to have seen him leave Déjà Vu. Instead, this Court must examine whether a rational juror would have rejected the testimony of the arresting team and found that, despite the fact that they arrested Mr. Scott, they did not actually see what Mr. Scott was doing prior to his arrest.

This inconsistent testimony is compounded by Det. Collier's limited ability to recall facts from the arrest. At trial, Det. Collier admitted that "sometimes it's just hard to keep track of one arrest from another." 2/26/15 RP 47. When he was interviewed by defense counsel prior to Mr. Scott's trial, Det. Collier had difficulty recalling many of the facts about the case. During the interview ten days prior, he did not recall how far away he was from Mr. Scott when he claimed he saw him make a delivery. 2/26/15 RP 44. He also did not recall where he was standing when he observed the deliveries. *Id.* at 26. At trial, he

stated he did recall his location, but could not explain how his memory had changed, other than by reviewing a general police report. *Id.* at 28.³

Det. Collier had trouble remembering much of the rest of the operation. He did not recall whether he was working alone during the operation. 2/26/15 RP 10. He did not recall where he first saw Mr. Scott. *Id.* at 15. He did not recall what side of the street he was on when he claimed Mr. Scott made a delivery. *Id.* at 40. He did not recall the officer in charge of the operation. *Id.* at 42. He did not recall the number of arrest teams in the area. *Id.* at 42. He did not recall the number of people involved in the operation. *Id.* at 43. He did not recall whether a briefing took place prior to the operation. *Id.* at 43. He did not recall whether he made other observations of drug sales that day. *Id.* at 43. He did not recall how long he had been following Mr. Scott. *Id.* at 45. He did not recall how long it was he watched Mr. Scott before he saw what he believed to be a delivery. *Id.* at 45.

The greatest difficulty in determining whether the evidence in this case is sufficient to establish an intent to deliver is in reconciling

³ Memories do not improve over time. To the contrary, reactivation of a memory and subsequent recalls can be easily distorted. *See*, Donna J. Bridge and Ken Paller, *Neural Correlates of Reactivation and Retrieval-Induced Distortion*, The Journal of Neuroscience 32 (August 29, 2012).

the testimony of the officers. While there was no dispute Mr. Scott was arrested on First Avenue, considerable conflict arose as to whether he remained on the street from the time Det. Collier stated he believed he saw Mr. Scott made a delivery or whether he emerged from Déjà Vu as the arresting team believed.

This is exacerbated by the fact that Det. Collier recalled very little of the operation he was engaged in that day, only remembering some of the facts between his interview by defense counsel and the trial itself. Unlike Det. Collier, the testimony of Officer Bailey was unequivocal, especially with respect to first seeing Mr. Scott as he emerged from Déjà Vu. For sufficiency purposes, this court should find the only rational way to reconcile this testimony is to determine that Officer Bailey was credible when he claimed he first saw Mr. Scott coming out of Déjà Vu and that Det. Collier's ability to recall was challenged by the 114 arrests he had been involved in during the twelve months prior to the trial. 2/26/15 RP 47.

Under a rational view of the evidence analysed in the light most favorable to the State, this Court must reject the claim that Mr. Scott was involved in the drug transactions Det. Collier claimed he observed. His testimony is inconsistent with the remainder of the State's evidence

and his ability to recall is impacted by the extraordinary number of arrests he was involved in. Instead, an analysis of the sufficiency of the evidence must be based upon the evidence the State introduced which is not in conflict with itself. In examining this evidence, it is clear Mr. Scott did not have the intent to commit a delivery. He was arrested with a minimal amount of drugs, very little money and no hallmarks which would indicate he was involved in the drug trade. Under this analysis, this Court should find the State presented insufficient evidence of Mr. Scott's intent to deliver.

3. This Court should dismiss because the State failed to establish sufficient evidence of an intent to deliver or grant a new trial under CrR 7.5 (a)(8).

Because the State failed to establish an essential element of the possession of a controlled substance with the intent to deliver, the Court should dismiss this charge. In the alternative, this Court should order a new trial under CrR 7.5 (a)(8).

F. CONCLUSION

The State failed to present sufficient evidence that Mr. Scott intended to deliver the drugs he was alleged to have possessed. Because the State failed to establish an essential element of the crime charge, this court should dismiss. In the alternative, because the court abused

its discretion in failing to order a new trial under CrR 7.5 (a)(8), this court should remand this matter for a new trial.