FILED
December 10, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 73364-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

BRIAN SCOTT,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE HOLLIS R. HILL

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> JOSEPH MARCHESANO Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney Norm Maleng Regional Justice Center 401 Fourth Avenue North Kent, Washington 98032-4429

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. PROCEDURAL FACTS

The State of Washington charged the defendant, Brian Scott, by way of information with one count of violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act – possession with intent to deliver cocaine.

Trial commenced before the Honorable Hollis Hill. 2/23/15 RP 1. After the State rested, Scott made a half-time motion, which was denied. 2/26/15 RP 65. The jury unanimously found Scott guilty as charged. CP 10. Scott timely filed a motion to arrest judgment, a motion to dismiss under CrR 8.3(b) and a motion for a

new trial. CP 31-221. Judge Hill denied the defendant's motions and sentenced Scott within the standard range. CP 230-38.

2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

At trial, Seattle Police Department Officer Wes Collier testified that during December of 2014 he was part of the Seattle Police Department West Precinct Anti-Crime Team. 2/26/15 RP 5.

During anti-crime team training, officers learn to conduct surveillance and conduct street-level drug transaction investigations. Id. at 6. Officer Collier also completed undercover school training where officers learn how to blend in with the public and identify dozens of different street drugs. Id. He estimated that he had participated in over 114 narcotic investigations in the past twelve months. Id. at 7. Of those investigations, Officer Collier estimated that he was the undercover observation officer more than 60% of the time. Id. at 8.

On December 19, 2014, Officer Collier took part in a "see-pop" narcotics operation in the Pike/Pine corridor of downtown Seattle. Id. A "see-pop" operation refers to a narcotics operation where officers conduct surveillance of a drug transaction and then make an arrest. 2/24/15 RP 38-39. During a "see-pop" operation,

the undercover observation officer wears plain clothes and looks for drug activity. <u>Id</u>. at 39. The arrest team officers wear police uniforms and make arrests based on the information given to them by the observation officer. <u>Id</u>.

Officer Collier was aware that this area of Seattle is classified as a Stay Out of Drug Area due to its unusually high narcotics activity. 2/26/15 RP 8. During this operation, Officer Collier was the observation officer. Id. at 9. He was dressed in plainclothes with a concealed earpiece connected to a radio that allowed him to communicate to the arrest team officers. Id. at 9-10. As the observation officer, Officer Collier looked for hand-to-hand transactions that could possibly be related to narcotics. Id. at 10. He explained that these transactions occur when two possible strangers meet together briefly and their hands touch each other and something is transferred from one hand to the other and vice versa. Id. The two strangers then leave in separate directions. Id.

During this operation, Officer Collier observed Scott. <u>Id</u>. at 12. Officer Collier did not use binoculars or any other equipment to enhance his vision, so he needed to be very close to any suspected drug transaction. <u>Id</u>. Officer Collier remembered Scott because he had a very distinctive Seattle Seahawks tattoo visible on his neck.

<u>Id</u>. at 13. Officer Collier first observed Scott on the southwest corner of Second and Pine Street. <u>Id</u>.

Officer Collier initially noticed Scott because it appeared that people gravitated towards Scott. <u>Id</u>. at 15. Officer Collier recognized the people that gravitated towards Scott and was aware that they were addicted to crack cocaine due to his personal interactions with them. <u>Id</u>. Officer Collier also noticed Scott's short curly hair, that he was a light-skinned black male, wearing a dark jacket with the hood down, blue jeans and light sneakers. <u>Id</u>. at 16-17.

Officer Collier approached within arm's length of Scott while two of the known crack cocaine addicts contacted Scott one at a time. Id. at 17. Officer Collier wanted to be close so that he could actually see if crack cocaine pass hands. Id. If he did not see objects that appeared to be crack cocaine pass hands, he would not have called the arrest team. Id.

Officer Collier saw Scott engage in two separate suspected drug transactions with people that Officer Collier knew were addicted to crack cocaine. <u>Id</u>. at 18. Each transaction was similar to the hand-to-hand transactions that Officer Collier described earlier and each transaction took less than five seconds. <u>Id</u>. During each suspected drug transaction, Officer Collier saw Scott transfer loose

"rocks" of apparent crack cocaine from his right jacket pocket to the known crack cocaine addicts. <u>Id</u>. at 21-22. The amount of suspected crack cocaine transferred was consistent with a typical street level drug transaction. <u>Id</u>. at 23. Officer Collier saw the other people transfer an unknown amount of money to Scott. <u>Id</u>. at 22-23. After the transactions, the buyers and Scott separated with Officer Collier behind Scott. <u>Id</u>. at 18. During the transactions, Officer Collier could see Scott's Seattle Seahawks neck tattoo. <u>Id</u>. at 19.

As Scott continued westbound, Officer Collier called the arrest team and provided them with a physical description of Scott.

Id. He did not provide the arrest team with information about Scott's tattoo because they might not be able to see a neck tattoo while driving into the area. Id. at 63. While maintaining constant visual of Scott, Officer Collier noticed the arrest team officers arrive in a subdued Seattle Police vehicle. Id. at 20. When Scott noticed the arrest team, Officer Collier saw Scott drop suspected crack cocaine into a trash container. Id. Specifically, Officer Collier saw Scott reach into his right jacket pocket, the same pocket he previously retrieved suspected crack cocaine, and put the baggie of suspected crack cocaine on the rim of the metal trash container. Id.

Officer Collier alerted the arrest team about the suspected crack cocaine in the trash container and saw the arrest team recover the suspected crack. Id. at 20. Officer Collier emphasized that maintaining visual contact was important to preserve evidence and to ensure that Scott's apprehension went smoothly. Id.

Seattle Police Department Detectives Terry Bailey and Jeffrey Sharp were the arrest team. 2/24/15 RP 40-44. Officer Collier provided them with a description of Scott via radio and requested they arrest Scott for suspected drug transactions. Id. Detectives Bailey and Sharp were dressed in full Seattle Police Department uniforms. Id. at 44-45. After Officer Collier's initial request to arrest Scott, Officer Collier gave updated information to Detectives Bailey and Sharp regarding Scott's location. Id. at 45. When Detectives Bailey and Sharp arrived near Scott's location, Detective Bailey saw Scott exiting Déjà Vu, which is located on First Avenue. <u>Id</u>. at 46. Scott matched the exact description provided by Officer Collier. Id. Scott began walking southbound and Detective Bailey followed him on foot. <u>Id</u>. at 46-47. Detective Bailey identified himself as a Seattle Police officer and Scott continued walking towards a trash container. Id. at 47. Detective Bailey saw Scott put something in between the trash container and the carrier

that holds the trash container. <u>Id</u>. Detective Bailey's view of the trash container was not obstructed. <u>Id</u>. at 47-48. During narcotics investigations, Detective Bailey routinely watches a suspect's hands to see if the suspect discards drugs or consumes the drugs prior to an arrest. <u>Id</u>. at 51. Additionally, Detective Bailey watches a suspect's hands to ensure the suspect does not possess any weapons. <u>Id</u>.

As Detective Bailey contacted Scott, Scott was within a few feet of the trash container where he placed the suspected crack cocaine. Id. at 52. Detective Bailey saw Detective Sharp retrieve that item and noted that it was a clear plastic baggie with a white substance inside. Id. at 53, 78. Based on his training and experience with narcotics, Detective Bailey believed the white substance was crack cocaine. After Scott was arrested, Detective Bailey searched him and recovered \$78, two cell phones, an identification card, iPod, four rings and an earring. Id. at 75-81.

Janice Wu, a forensic scientist at the Washington State
Patrol Crime Laboratory tested the suspected crack cocaine
recovered from the trash container and confirmed that the
substance was, in fact, cocaine. <u>Id</u>. at 101-10.

C. ARGUMENT

EVIDENCE OF INTENT TO DELIVER IS SUFFICIENT WHEN THERE IS EVIDENCE OF POSSESSION PLUS FACTS SUGGESTIVE OF SALE

Scott claims that there was insufficient evidence of intent to deliver crack cocaine and that the trial court abused its discretion in denying him a new trial. He is mistaken. There is sufficient evidence of intent to deliver where the State provided evidence of possession plus an additional fact that suggests intent to deliver.

Possession of a controlled substance, without more is insufficient to prove intent to deliver. State v. Brown, 68 Wn. App. 480, 483, 843 P.2d 1098 (1993). However, when the State provides evidence of an additional factor, there is sufficient evidence of intent to deliver. See id.

The relevant question in reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence in a criminal case is "whether any rational fact finder could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Drum, 168 Wn.2d 23, 34, 225 P.3d 237 (2010). In determining whether evidence is sufficient to sustain a conviction, an appellate court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. Id. (citing State v. Wentz, 149 Wn.2d 342, 347, 68 P.3d 282 (2003)). Additionally, the appellate court must

interpret those inferences most strongly against the defendant.

State v. Hagler, 74 Wn. App. 232, 234-35, 872 P.2d 85 (1994)

(citing State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068

(1992)). In claiming insufficient evidence, the defendant necessarily admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from it. Drum, 168 Wn.2d at 24 (citing Salinas, 119 Wn.2d at 201.

Further, the appellate court defers to the fact finder on issues of witness credibility. <u>Id</u>. (citing <u>State v. Camarillo</u>, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990)). This inquiry does not require the appellate court to determine whether it believed the evidence at trial established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

Whether there is evidence legally sufficient to go to the jury is a question of law for the courts; but, when there is substantial evidence, and when that evidence is conflicting or is such a character that reasonable minds may differ, it is the function and province of the jury to weigh the evidence, to determine the credibility of the witnesses, and to decide the disputed questions of fact.

<u>Hagler</u>, 74 Wn. App. at 235. (citing <u>State v. Theroff</u>, 25 Wn. App. 590, 593, 608 P.2d 1254, <u>affirmed</u>, 95 Wn.2d 385, 622 P.2d 1240 (1980)).

The statutory elements of possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver are: (1) unlawful possession; (2) with intent to deliver; (3) a controlled substance. See id. Intent to deliver a controlled substance may be inferred where the evidence shows both possession and facts suggestive of a sale. <u>Id</u>. at 236. See e.g., State v. Llamas-Villa, 67 Wn. App. 448, 836 P.2d 239 (1992) (possession of cocaine, heroin, and \$3,200, combined with an officer's observations of deals supported the inference of intent); State v. Mejia, 111 Wn.2d 892, 766 P.2d 454 (1989) (held that 1 ½ pounds of cocaine combined with an informant's tip and a controlled buy supported an inference of intent to deliver); State v. Lane, 56 Wn. App. 286, 297, 786 P.2d 277 (1989) (one ounce of cocaine, together with large amounts of cash and scales supported an intent to deliver, where the court specifically noted that cocaine is commonly sold by the ½ ounce); State v. Simpson, 22 Wn. App. 572, 590 P.2d 1276 (1979) (possession of cocaine, uncut heroin, lactose for cutting, and balloons for packaging supported an inference of intent to deliver).

Here, the State presented substantial evidence of possession plus two separate hand-to-hand transactions where known crack cocaine addicts gave money in exchange for

suspected rocks of crack cocaine. Officer Collier stood within arm's length of Scott while two known crack cocaine addicts contacted Scott. 2/26/15 RP 17. During each suspected drug transaction, Officer Collier saw Scott transfer loose rocks of suspected crack cocaine from his right jacket pocket to the known crack cocaine addicts. Id. at 21-22. The amount of suspected crack cocaine transferred was consistent with a typical street-level drug transaction. Id. at 23.

After the two transactions, Officer Collier kept Scott in sight.

Id. at 20. When Scott noticed the arrest team, Officer Collier saw
Scott discard suspected crack cocaine into a trash container. Id.

Specifically, Officer Collier saw Scott reach into his right jacket
pocket, the same pocket he previously retrieved suspected crack
cocaine, and put the baggie of suspected crack cocaine on the rim
of the metal trash container. Detective Sharp retrieved the baggie,
which contained a white, rock-like substance consistent with what
Officer Collier saw Scott giving to the known crack cocaine addicts.
2/24/15 RP 53, 78. Thus, Officer Collier's testimony is strong
evidence of what Scott intended to do with the cocaine. See State
v. Thomas 68 Wn. App. 268, 843 P.2d 540 (1992) (officer's
testimony about witnessing the defendant make suspected drug

sales tended to make it more probable that the defendant intended to deliver the cocaine he possessed).

Scott argues that Officer Collier's testimony lacks credibility due to various answers he could not recall on cross-examination.

The jury is the ultimate judge of the credibility of each witness and the appellate court must defer to the fact finder on such issues. See Drum, 168 Wn.2d at 24 (citing State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71 794 P.2d 850 (1990)). Moreover, the questions that Officer Collier could not answer were tangential, at best, to the suspected narcotics transactions he witnessed.

Lastly, Scott argues that because Officer Collier opined that small rocks of crack cocaine are worth about ten dollars each, Scott would have possessed two ten dollar bills in his pocket and not a twenty dollar bill. However, Officer Collier testified that he could not determine the exact amount of money exchanged in the transactions. 2/26/15 RP 22-23. This argument is predicated on drawing inferences against the State, which is contrary to the standard of review.

D. CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the defendant's conviction and sentence.